# Risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with liver disease: A nationwide population-based case-control study

Research Year Report September 2007

## Kirstine Kobberøe Søgaard

## **Medical student**



Report no. 30

### **Principal Supervisor:**

Professor, DMSc, PhD, Henrik Toft Sørensen, MD, Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital

### **Co-supervisor:**

Professor, DMSc, Hendrik Vilstrup, MD, Department of Medicine V (Hepatology and Gastroenterology), Aarhus University Hospital Peter Jepsen, MD, Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital PhD, Henning Grønbæk, MD, Department of Medicine V (Hepatology and Gastroenterology), Aarhus University Hospital MSc, Erzsébet Horváth-Puhó, Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Aarhus University Hospital

# CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	1
1. INTRODUCTION	2
2. MATERIAL AND METHODS	3
2.1 Cases of venous thromboembolism	
2.2 Population controls	
<ul><li>2.3 Liver diseases</li><li>2.4 Confounders</li></ul>	
2.4 Confounders	
3. RESULTS	
3.1 Descriptive data	
3.1.1 All patients with venous thromboembolism	
3.1.2 Patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism	
3.2 Risk of venous thromboembolism	
3.2.1 All patients with venous thromboembolism	
3.2.2 Patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism	/
4. DISCUSSION	8
5. FUNDING	10
REFERENCES	11
TABLE 1	17
TABLE 2	18
TABLE 3	19
APPENDIX	20

## ABSTRACT

**OBJECTIVE:** It is known that liver disease can cause an imbalance in the coagulation system, but available data on liver disease and risk of venous thromboembolism are conflicting. We examined the risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with four categories of liver disease: alcoholic liver cirrhosis, non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis, alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease, and non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease.

**METHODS:** We conducted a nationwide Danish case-control study of incident cases of venous thromboembolism from 1980-2005 using population-based data from the Danish National Registry of Patients, and from the Danish Civil Registration System. We used conditional logistic regression to compute the relative risk of venous thromboembolism in patients with liver disease compared to population controls. We then excluded patients with known malignancy (diagnosed either before or up to 3 months after the venous thromboembolism) or fractures, trauma, surgery or pregnancy within 90 days before the venous thromboembolism to estimate the risk associated with unprovoked venous thromboembolism.

**RESULTS:** A total of 99,464 patients with venous thromboembolism (53,576 with deep venous thrombosis and 45,888 with pulmonary embolism) and 496,979 population controls were included in the study. Patients with liver disease had a clearly increased relative risk of venous thromboembolism, varying from 1.74 (95% CI, 1.47-2.07) to 2.03 (95% CI, 1.86-2.21). In the analysis restricted to 69,481 patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism and 318,782 population controls, we found slightly higher relative risks, varying from 1.96 (95% CI, 1.57-2.44) to 2.46 (95% CI, 2.05-2.95).

**CONCLUSION:** Patients with liver disease have a substantial increased risk of venous thromboembolism.

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Venous thrombosis and its complications (pulmonary embolism and post-thrombotic syndrome) is common (incidence = 1/1000 persons/year) and has a high mortality rate (1-5). Among established risk factors are fractures, recent surgery, malignant disease, pregnancy, use of estrogens, and use of antipsychotic drugs (1;2;6-9). Approximately 0.5% of hospital admissions for patients with liver cirrhosis are associated with a venous thromboembolic event (10).

Patients with liver cirrhosis have endogenous coagulopathy and thrombocytopenia (11), and it has been suggested that they have a reduced risk for venous thromboembolism (VTE) (6). However, the evidence is limited to two studies with conflicting results. In a small US case-control study, Heit *et al.* found a substantially reduced relative risk of 0.10 of VTE associated with serious liver disease (6). In contrast, a recent case-control study from Britain found a non-significant increased relative risk 1.65 of VTE associated with chronic liver disease (9). The studies were not designed specifically to examine the risk of VTE associated with liver diseases. Neither included a detailed analysis by type of liver disease.

Information on the association between VTE and liver disease is needed to better understand the clinical course of liver patients and the role of the liver in maintaining haemostasis. We therefore undertook a nationwide population-based case-control study to determine if liver disease is associated with an increased or decreased risk of VTE.

## 2. MATERIAL AND METHODS

We conducted this Danish nationwide population-based case-control study using the Danish National Registry of Patients, which contains records on 99.4% of all hospital discharges since January 1, 1977 (12), and the Danish Civil Registration System. We made use of the civil registration number, a personal identifier assigned to all Danes at birth, to link records across registries.

#### 2.1 Cases of venous thromboembolism

The Danish National Registry of Patients records patients' civil registration numbers, dates of hospital admission and discharge, surgical procedures, and up to 20 discharge diagnoses. The discharge diagnoses are classified according to the International Classification of Diseases, 8<sup>th</sup> revision (ICD-8) until the end of 1993 and 10<sup>th</sup> revision (ICD-10) thereafter (12). One registered discharge diagnosis for each patient is recorded as primary and the others as secondary (12). We searched the Registry for all discharge diagnoses of deep venous thrombosis in the lower limb (code 451.00 in ICD-8 and code 1801-03 in ICD-10), and pulmonary embolism (code 450.99 in ICD-8 and code 126 in ICD-10) between January 1, 1980 and December 31, 2005. The start date was chosen to avoid considering prevalent VTE cases that had occurred before the Registry's establishment as incident cases. If a patient had had several VTE hospitalizations, the date of the first VTE diagnosis was used. We identified 99,464 patients with a first recorded hospitalization for deep venous thrombosis in the lower limb or for a pulmonary embolism.

We first assessed the association between liver disease and overall risk of VTE and then conducted a separate analysis for unprovoked VTE. We defined unprovoked VTE as occurring in patients without a diagnosis of cancer before or within 90 days after the thromboembolic event, as well as in patients without a discharge diagnosis of fractures, trauma, surgery, or pregnancy within 90 days prior to the hospitalization for VTE (13).

#### 2.2 Population controls

For each case we selected five population controls from the Danish Civil Registration System, matched by age, gender and county. This Registry is updated daily and maintains electronic records on vital status (dead or alive), date of death, and the residence of all Danish citizens since April 1, 1968. The controls were selected using risk set sampling (14) and assigned an index date identical to the VTE admission date for the matched case. Thus, in addition to fulfilling the matching criteria, the controls had to be alive on the index date and must not have had a VTE before this date. A total of 496,979 population controls were included in the study.

#### 2.3 Liver diseases

Based on diagnoses in the Danish National Registry of Patients, we defined four subgroups according to expected severity of liver disease and alcohol involvement: (1) Alcoholic liver cirrhosis, (2) Non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis, (3) Alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease, and (4) Nonalcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease. We included all discharge diagnoses of liver disease from January 1, 1977 until the date of VTE diagnosis among patients or the index date among controls. The diagnosis codes used in the study are provided in the Appendix.

#### 2.4 Confounders

In order to classify patients as having primary or secondary VTE, we collected data on cancer, fractures, trauma, surgery and pregnancy from the Danish National Registry of Patients. We also collected data on former diagnoses of cardiovascular diseases (acute myocardial infection, heart

failure, and stroke) (2;15), chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (COPD) (2), diabetes (2;16), obesity (1;2;17-20), and psychiatric diseases (as a marker of antipsychotic drug use) (2;21;22). Only diagnoses recorded before the admission date for VTE or the index date for controls were included. The relevant diagnosis codes used are provided in the Appendix.

#### 2.5 Statistical analyses

We analyzed the data first by constructing contingency tables for the main study variables. We used conditional logistic regression to compute odds ratios as a measure of relative risks of VTE for patients with liver disease compared to patients without liver disease. We then stratified the contingency tables by gender and age category ( $\leq$ 54 years, 55-74 years and 75+ years), and conducted a separate analysis on unprovoked VTE. We also fitted conditional logistic regression models that controlled for age category, cardiovascular diseases, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, diabetes, obesity, and psychiatric diseases. In addition, the analysis using all VTE events was adjusted for cancer, recent fractures, trauma, surgery, and pregnancy. Because of our use of risk set sampling, the odds ratios are unbiased estimates of corresponding rate ratios in a similar cohort study (23;24).

## **3. RESULTS**

#### 3.1 Descriptive data

#### 3.1.1 All patients with venous thromboembolism

For the overall case-control analysis, we identified 99,464 individuals with VTE (53,576 with deep venous thrombosis and 45,888 with pulmonary embolism) and 496,979 population controls. Among both cases and controls, there were slightly more females than males and one-third was older than 75 years. VTE patients had a higher prevalence of all comorbidities compared to controls (Table 1). In regard to liver disease, 0.32% of cases had alcoholic liver cirrhosis, 0.24% non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis, 0.20% alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease and 0.92% non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease, while the corresponding prevalence's among controls were 0.11%, 0.10%, 0.08% and 0.37%, respectively.

#### 3.1.2 Patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism

In the case-control analysis of unprovoked VTE, we identified 69,481 cases with VTE (37,738 with deep VTE and 31,743 with pulmonary embolism) and 318,782 population controls. Slightly more cases were females than males and one-third of both cases and controls was older than 75 years. Similar to all VTE cases, patients with unprovoked VTE had a higher prevalence of all comorbidities (data not presented) and liver diseases (Table 2) compared to population controls. The highest prevalence of liver disease among patients with unprovoked VTE was in the category of non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease, with 629 (0.91%) cases compared to 1,011 (0.32%) controls.

#### 3.2 Risk of venous thromboembolism

#### 3.2.1 All patients with venous thromboembolism

Patients with all categories of liver disease had an approximately doubled adjusted risk of any type of VTE, varying from 1.74 (95% CI, 1.47-2.06) for patients with non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis to 2.03 (95% CI, 1.86-2.21) for patients with non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease (Table 3).

#### 3.2.2 Patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism

The relative risks of unprovoked VTE were approximately 10% higher than the risks of any VTE (Table 3), varying from 1.96 (95% CI, 1.57-2.44) in patients with alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease to 2.46 (95% CI, 2.05-2.95) in patients with alcoholic cirrhosis. The relative risks were slightly higher in men than women and in patients younger than 55 years. The adjusted relative risks varied from 2.64 (95% CI, 1.81-3.86) in patients aged under 55 years with alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease, to 4.04 (95% CI, 2.87-5.70) in patients in this age group with alcoholic cirrhosis (data not presented).

## **4. DISCUSSION**

This large nationwide population-based case-control study provided strong evidence that all categories of liver disease were associated with an increased risk of VTE, regardless of the presence of other factors.

Our findings differ from those of a case-control study of 625 VTE cases and 625 population controls conducted in Olmsted County in the US. In the US study hepatitis and liver cirrhosis were combined into one category. The study showed a substantial reduced risk, but with an imprecise relative risk estimate of 0.10 (95% CI, 0.01-0.71). While several confounding factors were taken into consideration, some residual confounding cannot be ruled out. In concert with the crude classification of liver diseases, such confounding may have influenced the study results (6). In a recent study based on data from the General Practice Research Database in Britain, including 6,550 VTE patients and 10,000 population controls, Huerta *et al.* reported a relative risk of 1.65 (95% CI, 0.97-2.82). As in our study, adjustments were made for potential confounding factors in the statistical analyses. However, only one category was used for chronic liver diseases. In addition, the study relied solely on VTE data from general practitioners' medical records. This might explain the slightly lower risk found in the study, compared to our risk estimates (9).

The validity of our findings depends on several factors. Our study's major strengths are its population-based design, large size, complete follow-up and nationwide coverage. It was conducted within the setting of a free tax supported national health service, which eliminates referral and diagnostic bias. Differential information bias was avoided by making use of computerized data collected for purposes independent of our study. Still, the accuracy of our findings depends on the quality of coding of VTE and liver disease. In healthcare databases, the predictive value of coding

8

has been reported to be 90% for pulmonary embolism (25) and slightly lower for venous thrombosis and liver diseases (25;26). However, any deficit in coding specificity would bias our risk estimates towards the null (27).

Data on confounding variables were derived from the Danish National Registry of Patients, which has a high validity (12). In accordance with the procedure used in another epidemiologic study (13), diagnoses of cancer, fractures, trauma, and pregnancy, together with surgical procedures, were used to define unprovoked VTE. While we did not have data on lifestyle factors such as smoking and alcohol intake, there is little evidence that these are risk factors for VTE (6;9). This makes major unmeasured or residual confounding unlikely.

We cannot specify the mechanism by which liver disease increases the risk of VTE. However, both endogenous changes associated with liver disease and external factors may play a role. Northup *et al.* recently showed that severity of liver disease, as reflected in low serum albumin, was a predictor for developing thromboembolic events (10). This may indicate that the liver is producing low levels of anticoagulants. Also, it is well-established that exogenous estrogens are a risk factor for venous thrombosis (28-30) and endogenous estrogen levels are elevated in cirrhosis (31;32). Recently, the metabolic syndrome has been implicated as a risk factor for VTE (33), and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease and to some extent cirrhosis of unknown etiology are considered hepatic manifestations of this syndrome (34;35).

It is also likely that the immobility associated with liver disease, secondary to or contributing to muscle weakness, increases the risk of VTE. Cirrhosis patients have a markedly increased

frequency of severe infective and haemorrhagic complications (36), and it is well known that critically ill patients have a substantially increased risk of deep venous thrombosis (37;38).

VTE is associated with significant short-term mortality (9), and liver disease is a relative contraindication for anticoagulation therapy, suggesting that non-pharmacological prevention is important. The lack of clinical detail in our data prevents us from providing guidelines on this important issue.

In conclusion, our data show that any liver disease is a strong risk factor for VTE, and that other risk factors for venous thrombosis supersede the decrease in coagulation associated with liver disease.

## **5. FUNDING**

The study received financial support from the Danish Medical Research Council, the Danish Agency of Science, Technology and Innovation, and the Department of Clinical Epidemiology Research Foundation.

## REFERENCES

- (1) Kyrle PA, Eichinger S. Deep vein thrombosis. Lancet 2005;365:1163-74.
- (2) Goldhaber SZ. Pulmonary embolism. Lancet 2004;363:1295-305.
- (3) Heit JA. The epidemiology of venous thromboembolism in the community: implications for prevention and management. J Thromb Thrombolysis 2006;21:23-9.
- (4) Samkoff JS, Comstock GW. Epidemiology of pulmonary embolism: mortality in a general population. Am J Epidemiol 1981;114:488-96.
- (5) Silverstein MD, Heit JA, Mohr DN, et al. Trends in the incidence of deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a 25-year population-based study. Arch Intern Med 1998;158:585-93.
- (6) Heit JA, Silverstein MD, Mohr DN, et al. Risk factors for deep vein thrombosis and pulmonary embolism: a population-based case-control study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:809-15.
- (7) Liperoti R, Pedone C, Lapane KL, et al. Venous thromboembolism among elderly patients treated with atypical and conventional antipsychotic agents. Arch Intern Med 2005;165:2677-82.

- (8) Samama MM. An epidemiologic study of risk factors for deep vein thrombosis in medical outpatients: the Sirius study. Arch Intern Med 2000;160:3415-20.
- (9) Huerta C, Johansson S, Wallander MA, et al. Risk Factors and Short-term Mortality of Venous Thromboembolism Diagnosed in the Primary Care Setting in the United Kingdom. Arch Intern Med 2007;167:935-43.
- (10) Northup PG, McMahon MM, Ruhl AP, et al. Coagulopathy does not fully protect hospitalized cirrhosis patients from peripheral venous thromboembolism. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:1524-8.
- (11) Amitrano L, Guardascione MA, Brancaccio V, et al. Coagulation disorders in liver disease.
  Semin Liver Dis 2002;22:83-96.
- (12) Andersen TF, Madsen M, Jorgensen J, et al. The Danish National Hospital Register. A valuable source of data for modern health sciences. Dan Med Bull 1999;46:263-8.
- (13) Glynn RJ, Rosner B. Comparison of risk factors for the competing risks of coronary heart disease, stroke, and venous thromboembolism. Am J Epidemiol 2005;162:975-82.
- (14) Wacholder S, McLaughlin JK, Silverman DT, et al. Selection of controls in case-control studies. I. Principles. Am J Epidemiol 1992;135:1019-28.
- (15) Aytaman A, McFarlane SI. Hepatitis C and the risk of cardiovascular disease: an evolving epidemic? Expert Rev Cardiovasc Ther 2006;4:439-42.

- Moscatiello S, Manini R, Marchesini G. Diabetes and liver disease: an ominous association.
  Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis 2007;17:63-70.
- (17) Liew PL, Lee WJ, Lee YC, et al. Hepatic histopathology of morbid obesity: concurrence of other forms of chronic liver disease. Obes Surg 2006;16:1584-93.
- (18) Saadeh S. Nonalcoholic Fatty liver disease and obesity. Nutr Clin Pract 2007;22:1-10.
- (19) Ong JP, Elariny H, Collantes R, et al. Predictors of nonalcoholic steatohepatitis and advanced fibrosis in morbidly obese patients. Obes Surg 2005;15:310-5.
- (20) Abrams GA, Kunde SS, Lazenby AJ, et al. Portal fibrosis and hepatic steatosis in morbidly obese subjects: A spectrum of nonalcoholic fatty liver disease. Hepatology 2004;40:475-83.
- (21) Fireman M, Indest DW, Blackwell A, et al. Addressing tri-morbidity (hepatitis C, psychiatric disorders, and substance use): the importance of routine mental health screening as a component of a comanagement model of care. Clin Infect Dis 2005;40:S286-S291.
- (22) Crone CC, Gabriel GM, DiMartini A. An overview of psychiatric issues in liver disease for the consultation-liaison psychiatrist. Psychosomatics 2006;47:188-205.
- (23) Navidi W, Weinhandl E. Risk set sampling for case-crossover designs. Epidemiology 2002;13:100-5.

- (24) Langholz B, Goldstein R. Risk Set Sampling in Epidemiologic cohort studies. Stat sci 1996;11:35-53.
- (25) Kniffin WD, Jr., Baron JA, Barrett J et al. The epidemiology of diagnosed pulmonary embolism and deep venous thrombosis in the elderly. Arch Intern Med 1994;154:861-6.
- (26) Vestberg K, Thulstrup AM, Sorensen HT, et al. Data quality of administratively collected hospital discharge data for liver cirrhosis epidemiology. J Med Syst 1997;21:11-20.
- (27) Copeland KT, Checkoway H, McMichael AJ, et al. Bias due to misclassification in the estimation of relative risk. Am J Epidemiol 1977;105:488-95.
- (28) Ageno W, Squizzato A, Garcia D, et al. Epidemiology and risk factors of venous thromboembolism. Semin Thromb Hemost 2006;32:651-8.
- (29) Canonico M, Oger E, Plu-Bureau, et al. Hormone therapy and venous thromboembolism among postmenopausal women: impact of the route of estrogen administration and progestogens: the ESTHER study. Circulation 2007;115:840-5.
- (30) Hoibraaten E, Qvigstad E, Arnesen H, et al. Increased risk of recurrent venous thromboembolism during hormone replacement therapy--results of the randomized, doubleblind, placebo-controlled estrogen in venous thromboembolism trial (EVTET). Thromb Haemost 2000;84:961-7.

- (31) Becker U. The influence of ethanol and liver disease on sex hormones and hepatic oestrogen receptors in women. Dan Med Bull 1993;40:447-59.
- (32) Becker U, Almdal T, Christensen E, et al. Sex hormones in postmenopausal women with primary biliary cirrhosis. Hepatology 1991;13:865-9.
- (33) Ageno W, Prandoni P, Romualdi E, et al. The metabolic syndrome and the risk of venous thrombosis: a case-control study. J Thromb Haemost 2006;4:1914-8.
- (34) Hubscher SG. Histological assessment of non-alcoholic fatty liver disease. Histopathology 2006;49:450-65.
- (35) Kang H, Greenson JK, Omo JT, et al. Metabolic syndrome is associated with greater histologic severity, higher carbohydrate, and lower fat diet in patients with NAFLD. Am J Gastroenterol 2006;101:2247-53.
- (36) Caldwell SH, Hoffman M, Lisman T et al. Coagulation disorders and hemostasis in liver disease: pathophysiology and critical assessment of current management. Hepatology 2006;44:1039-46.
- (37) Cook D, Crowther M, Meade M, et al. Deep venous thrombosis in medical-surgical critically ill patients: prevalence, incidence, and risk factors. Crit Care Med 2005;33:1565-71.

(38) Pendleton R, Wheeler M, Rodgers G. Venous thromboembolism prevention in the acutely ill medical patient: a review of the literature and focus on special patient populations. Am J Hematol 2005;79:229-37.

# **TABLE 1**

Characteristics of patients with venous thromboembolism and population controls.						
Variable	VTE Cases (%)	Controls (%)				
	N=99,464	N=496,979				
Female	52,356 (52.6%)	261,535 (52.6%)				
Male	47,108 (47.4%)	235,444 (47.4%)				
≤54	23,835 (23.96%)	119,286 (24.00%)				
55-74	41,880 (42.11%)	209,464 (42.15%)				
≥75	33,749 (33.93%)	168,229 (33.85%)				
Alcoholic liver cirrhosis	320 (0.32%)	562 (0.11%)				
Non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis	236 (0.24%)	504 (0.10%)				
Alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease	199 (0.20%)	392 (0.08%)				
Non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease	919 (0.92%)	1,829 (0.37%)				
Cancer	16,788 (16.88%)	31,018 (6.24%)				
Fractures or trauma	9,612 (9.66%)	6,735 (1.36%)				
Surgery	8,158 (8.20%)	9,119 (1.83%)				
Pregnancy	840 (0.84%)	727 (0.15%)				
Cardiovascular diseases	15,754 (15.84%)	40,707 (8.19%)				
Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease	6,799 (6.84%)	14,750 (2.97%)				
Diabetes	5,593 (5.62%)	15,003 (3.02%)				
Psychiatric diseases	4,426 (4.45%)	9,731 (1.96%)				
Obesity	3,452 (3.47%)	6,136 (1.23%)				

# TABLE 2

Characteristics of patients with unprovoked venous thromboembolism and

population controls.

Variable	VTE Cases (%)	Controls (%)	
	N=69,481	N=318,782	
Female	35,513 (51.1%)	161,304 (50.1%)	
Male	33,968 (48.9%)	157,478 (49.4%)	
≤54	17,392 (25.03%)	83,633 (26.24%)	
55-74	29,412 (42.33%)	136,190 (42.72%)	
≥75	22,677 (32.64%)	98,959 (31.04%)	
Alcoholic liver cirrhosis	217 (0.31%)	310 (0.11%)	
Non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis	153 (0.22%)	279 (0.09%)	
Alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease	139 (0.20%)	233 (0.07%)	
Non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease	629 (0.91%)	1,011 (0.32%)	

# TABLE 3

Crude and adjusted relative risks (odds ratios) and 95% confidence intervals (95% CI) for venous thromboembolism.

	All VTE		All VTE Unprovoked VTE	
Variable	Crude RR	Adjusted* RR	Crude RR	Adjusted** RR
Alcoholic liver	2.88 (2.51-3.30)	1.98 (1.70-2.31)	3.29 (2.76-3.91)	2.46 (2.05-2.95)
cirrhosis				
Non-alcoholic liver	2.35 (2.01-2.74)	1.74 (1.47-2.06)	2.51 (2.06-3.06)	2.07 (1.68-2.54)
cirrhosis				
Alcoholic non-cirrhotic	2.56 (2.16-3.04)	1.81 (1.50-2.19)	2.78 (2.25-3.44)	1.96 (1.57-2.44)
liver disease				
Non-alcoholic non-	2.53 (2.34-2.74)	2.03 (1.86-2.21)	2.86 (2.59-3.17)	2.31 (2.08-2.56)
cirrhotic liver disease				

• \*Adjusted for cancer, fractures, trauma, surgery, pregnancy, cardiovascular diseases, COPD, diabetes, psychiatric diseases, and obesity.

• \*\* Adjusted for cardiovascular diseases, COPD, diabetes, psychiatric diseases, and obesity.

## APPENDIX

### **ICD Codes**

#### **Outcome:**

Deep venous thrombosis in the lower limb (ICD-8 451.00, ICD-10 I801-03)

Pulmonary embolism (ICD-8 450.99, ICD-10 I26)

#### **Exposures:**

#### **Reference group: no liver disease**

#### 1) Alcoholic liver cirrhosis:

Cirrhosis hepatis, non-alcoholic (ICD-8: 571.09)

Alcoholic liver cirrhosis (ICD-10 K70.3)

#### 2) Non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis:

Non-alcoholic liver cirrhosis (ICD-8 571.90-571.92, 571.99, ICD-10 K71.7, K74.3, K74.4, K74.5, K74.6)

#### 3) Alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease

Steatosis hepatis alcoholica (ICD-8 571.10)

Alcoholic liver disease excl. cirrhosis (ICD-10 K70.0- K70.9 excl. K70.3)

#### 4) Non-alcoholic non-cirrhotic liver disease:

Non-alcoholic liver disease excl. cirrhosis (ICD-8 570.00-573.09 excl. 571.09, 571.10, 571.90-

571.92, 571.99) (ICD-10 R74.0, K71.0-K77.8 excl. K71.7, K74.3, K74.4, K74.5, K74.6)

Hepatitis viralis (ICD-8 70.01-70.09) (ICD-10 B15-B19)

### **Confounders:**

Cancer (ICD-8 140-209, ICD-10 C00-C99)

Fractures or trauma (ICD-8 800–999, ICD-10 S00–T14)

Pregnancy or delivery (ICD-8 630–680, ICD-10 O00–O99)

Cardiovascular disease:

- Stroke (ICD-8 431–435, ICD-10 I61, I63, I64, I65, I66)
- Myocardial infarction (ICD-8 410, ICD-10 I21)
- Heart failure (ICD-8 42709, 42710, 42711, ICD-10 I50)

Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (ICD-8 491,492, ICD-10 J42 J43 J44)

Diabetes (ICD-8 249, 250, ICD-10 E10, E11)

Psychiatric diseases (ICD-8 291-301, 304, ICD-10 F10.4-F10.9, F11-F69)

Obesity (ICD-8 277.99, ICD-10 E66)

## Ph.d.-afhandlinger/rapporter fra Klinisk Epidemiologisk Afdeling

- 1. Ane Marie Thulstrup: Mortality, infections and operative risk in patients with liver cirrhosis in Denmark. Clinical epidemiological studies. *2000*.
- 2. Nana Thrane: Prescription of systemic antibiotics for Danish children. 2000.
- 3. Charlotte Søndergaard. Follow-up studies of prenatal, perinatal and postnatal risk factors in infantile colic. 2001.
- 4. Charlotte Olesen: Use of the North Jutland Prescription Database in epidemiological studies of drug use and drug safety during pregnancy. *2001*.
- 5. Yuan Wei: The impact of fetal growth on the subsequent risk of infectious disease and asthma in childhood. *2001*.
- 6. Gitte Pedersen. Bacteremia: treatment and prognosis. 2001.
- 7. Henrik Gregersen: The prognosis of Danish patients with monoclonal gammopathy of undertermined significance: register-based studies. *2002*.
- 8. Bente Nørgård: Colitis ulcerosa, coeliaki og graviditet; en oversigt med speciel reference til forløb og sikkerhed af medicinsk behandling. 2002.
- 9. Søren Paaske Johnsen: Risk factors for stroke with special reference to diet, Chlamydia pneumoniae, infection, and use of non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs. 2002.
- 10. Elise Snitker Jensen: Seasonal variation of meningococcal disease and factors associated with its outcome. 2003.
- 11. Andrea Floyd: Drug-associated acute pancreatitis. Clinical epidemiological studies of selected drugs. 2004.
- 12. Pia Wogelius: Aspects of dental health in children with asthma. Epidemiological studies of dental anxiety and caries among children in North Jutland County, Denmark. 2004.
- 13. Kort-og langtidsoverlevelse efter indlæggelse for udvalgte kræftsygdomme i Nordjyllands, Viborg og Århus amter 1985-2003. 2004.
- 14. Reimar W. Thomsen: Diabetes mellitus and community-acquired bacteremia: risk and prognosis. 2004.
- 15. Kronisk obstruktiv lungesygdom i Nordjyllands, Viborg og Århus amter 1994-2004. Forekomst og prognose. Et pilotprojekt. *2005*.
- 16. Lungebetændelse i Nordjyllands, Viborg og Århus amter 1994-2004. Forekomst og prognose. Et pilotprojekt. 2005.

- 17. Kort- og langtidsoverlevelse efter indlæggelse for nyre-, bugspytkirtel- og leverkræft i Nordjyllands, Viborg, Ringkøbing og Århus amter 1985-2004. 2005.
- 18. Kort- og langtidsoverlevelse efter indlæggelse for udvalgte kræftsygdomme i Nordjyllands, Viborg, Ringkøbing og Århus amter 1995-2005. 2005.
- 19. Mette Nørgaard: Haematological malignancies: Risk and prognosis. 2006.
- 20. Alma Becic Pedersen: Studies based on the Danish Hip Arthroplastry Registry. 2006.

Særtryk: Klinisk Epidemiologisk Afdeling - De første 5 år. 2006.

- 21. Blindtarmsbetændelse i Vejle, Ringkjøbing, Viborg, Nordjyllands og Århus Amter. 2006.
- 22. Andre sygdommes betydning for overlevelse efter indlæggelse for seks kræftsygdomme i Nordjyllands, Viborg, Ringkjøbing og Århus amter 1995-2005. 2006.
- 23. Ambulante besøg og indlæggelser for udvalgte kroniske sygdomme på somatiske hospitaler i Århus, Ringkjøbing, Viborg, og Nordjyllands amter. 2006.
- 24. Ellen M Mikkelsen: Impact of genetic counseling for hereditary breast and ovarian cancer disposition on psychosocial outcomes and risk perception: A population-based follow-up study. 2006.
- 25. Forbruget af lægemidler mod kroniske sygdomme i Århus, Viborg og Nordjyllands amter 2004-2005. 2006.
- 26. Tilbagelægning af kolostomi og ileostomi i Vejle, Ringkjøbing, Viborg, Nordjyllands og Århus Amter. 2006.
- 27. Rune Erichsen: Time trend in incidence and prognosis of primary liver cancer and liver cancer of unknown origin in a Danish region, 1985-2004. 2007.
- 28. Vivian Langagergaard: Birth outcome in Danish women with breast cancer, cutaneous malignant melanoma, and Hodgkin's disease. 2007.
- 29. Cynthia de Luise: The Relationship between Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease, Comorbidity and Mortality Following Hip Fracture. 2007.